NEVADA COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION NEVADA COUNTY, CALIFORNIA						
MINUTES Center,	of the meet 950	ing of July 13, Maidu	2017, 1:30 PM, Avenue,	Board Chamber Nevada	rs, Eric Rood A City,	Administration California
MEMBER	S PRESEN	T: Chair Agui	lar and Commiss	sioners Heck, D	uncan and Jai	nes.
MEMBER	S ABSENT	: Commission	er Jensen.			
	trick Dobbs	_	or, Brian Foss; laty Counsel, Rhe	*	•	•
PUBLIC H	IEARINGS	:				
	essory Dwe N17-0026; C		portive/Transitio	onal Housing Or	rdinance Page 1,	Line 48
STANDIN	G ORDERS	S: Salute to the	e Flag - Roll Call	l - Corrections t	o Agenda.	
CALL ME taken.	EETING TO	O ORDER: T	he meeting was	called to order	at 1:30 p.m.	Roll call was
CHANGE	S TO AGE	NDA: None.				
items not a matter juris	ppearing on sdiction of t	the agenda whe Planning C	f the public shall hich are of inter- Commission, pro (6) of Section 54	est to the public vided that no a	c and are with action shall be	nin the subject e taken unless
Chair Agui	lar opened p	ublic commen	t at 1:32 p.m.			
	sed the goals		as the co-chair cation and said th			
Chair Agui	lar closed pu	ablic comment	at 1:34 p.m.			
COMMISS	SION BUSI	NESS: None.				
CONSENT	Γ ITEMS: N	Vone.				
PUBLIC H	IEARING:					
		-	hearing to cons			

Land Use and Development Code Chapter II, to bring the Code into compliance with State housing laws for accessory dwelling units (ADUs), and transitional and supportive housing, including amendments to Allowable Land Uses Tables L-II 2.2.1.B, 2.2.2.B, 2.3.D, 2.4.D and 2.6.F for consistent ADU terminology, and to provide for a variety of affordable housing types and equal opportunities in all residential areas including the establishment of transitional housing for the homeless; and Sections L-II 3.19 (Second Dwelling Units), L-II 3.19.1 (Accessory-Second Dwelling Units), L-II 3.19.2 (Second Dwelling Units-Consistent with Allowed Density), L-II 4.2.5 (Building Setbacks), L-II 4.2.9 (Parking), and L-II 6.1 (Definitions) for ADU development standards and administration, internal Code consistency, and transitional and supportive housing definitions. **RECOMMENDED ENVIRONMENTAL DETERMINATION:** CEQA Statutory Exemption 15061(b)(3), 15268, and 15282(h). PLANNER: Patrick Dobbs, Senior Planner

Planner Dobbs introduced himself and the proposed zoning text amendments. He began with a background on ADUs, the benefits and challenges associated with them, and the various laws regulating them. He then detailed three types of ADUs. He described the changes to Nevada County's code that are required by SB 1069.

Chair Aguilar asked about ADUs on legal non-conforming lots.

Planner Dobbs said legal non-conforming lots would be eligible to construct ADUs. He then detailed AB 2299 and its requirements. He explained SB 2 and the Housing Element, which address transitional and supportive housing. Public comment on the project was received in the form of emails, phone calls and formal letters. Most comments were in support of the proposal. Some public comment asked the county to go further in providing incentives to building ADUs, namely by removing the owner occupancy requirement. One comment requested that ADUs have restrictions against being used for short term rentals. One comment was opposed to the proposal because of concern about a decrease in neighboring property value. Planner Dobbs asked the Commission to recommend the Board of Supervisors find the project exempt from CEQA and approve the proposed zoning text amendments.

Chair Aguilar asked the Commission for questions.

82 Commissioner Duncan asked if an income restriction on ADUs was part of the proposed changes.

Planner Dobbs answered that it is not part of the proposal.

86 Commissioner Duncan asked if it was a consideration.

Planner Dobbs said staff had listened to and considered the received feedback and have met some of those requests.

Commissioner Duncan discussed previous restrictions on ADUs. This proposal allows more leniency. Income limitations may help provide more affordable housing.

94 Planner Dobbs said that could be included in the Commission's recommendation to the Board.

Commissioner Duncan asked what Planner Dobbs meant when he said he listened to the feedback.

Planner Dobbs said there are a number of ways to make housing more affordable. The proposal simplifies the process by reducing barriers. Staff's intent is to be compliant with the state. Staff will respond to any further direction from the Board.

101

102 Commissioner Duncan asked if Planner Dobbs was suggesting that folks concerned about affordability come before the Board.

104

Planner Dobbs said he was suggesting that for that to be considered, staff would want to get the direction from the Board.

107

108 Commissioner Duncan said the proposal was to comply with state law and the county is doing catch-up. She asked if this was tied to eligibility for grant funds.

110

Planner Dobbs said he was not aware of specific connections. HHSA manages many housing assistance programs like Section 8. This proposal does not affect existing grants. It does offer more opportunities and possibilities.

114

115 Commissioner Duncan asked about septic requirements for detached ADUs.

116

Planner Dobbs explained the requirements and the reasoning behind them. A second unit requires a second septic tank, though sometimes both units may share a leach field. This prevents a single system from being overloaded. Gravity systems in particular sometimes aren't well maintained so having non-dependent systems helps with the longevity and functionality of the septic system.

121

122 Commissioner Duncan commented on Environmental Health's discretion.

123

Planner Dobbs noted Environmental Health's built-in protections.

125

126 Commissioner Duncan contrasted the by-right allowance of transitional and supportive housing in 127 commercial zoning to the requirement that a use permit be issued for traditional housing in the 128 same zoning. It is not equal opportunity if traditional housing is being held to a higher standard.

129

Planner Dobbs explained that these changes make it easier to provide transitional and supportive housing.

132

133 Commissioner Duncan asked for clarification on permitting requirements for traditional housing in mixed-use developments.

135

Planner Dobbs said that residential is not intended to be the primary use in Community Commercial zoning.

138

139 Commissioner Duncan said that puts an onerous burden developers providing traditional housing.

140

Planner Dobbs clarified that that was the existing regulation. Commercially zoned properties often have the most intense uses so there are a lot of use permits required in those zoning districts.

- 144 Commissioner Duncan suggested making mixed-use projects and urban redevelopment more sustainable. She suggested making the process of proposing housing as a part of that development
- less of a burden.

Planner Dobbs thanked Commissioner Duncan. Commissioner Duncan commented that it was not equal opportunity. Commissioner Heck asked for a discussion of costs. She mentioned public comment and asked what incentives the county is providing to encourage ADUs. Planner Dobbs said costs vary quite a bit. Some impact fees are already reduced and the county does not control many user fees. Incentives include streamlined review, some reduced fees and quick turnaround time for plan review and permit issuance. The fees charged are for services provided and they are consistent with other counties. There are generous allowances for ADUs. Commissioner Heck asked what fees would be for a hypothetical project. Director Foss said the fees are established by the Building Department and he does not have a ballpark. There has been some fee analysis in the past. Commissioner Heck noted that fees are an impediment for ADU development. She asked if thought has been given to structures like liens, bonds and other creative ways to stretch fees out. Chair Aguilar said a fee discussion was not within the Commission's purview. Commissioner Heck said the Commission is making a recommendation for the policy. She wanted to have a discussion on a way to address the fees to address public comment. Fees can be an impediment and the goal is to incentivize. Chair Aguilar said there is no way for the Commission to talk about it. The Board talks about the fees and the Commission talks about the planning. Commissioner Duncan said Commission Heck was addressing the affordability of building. Fees support a wide variety of services and are an expensive reality. Perhaps there are other avenues staff could look at to recommend to the Board. She gave examples of programs to rehab and build houses and discussed state and federal grants. However, fees must be paid upfront as deferred payments are difficult. Chair Aguilar asked if making the language in conformance with the state was contingent on fees. Commissioner Heck said no.

Commissioner Duncan said no. She wanted to address Commissioner Heck's comment and discuss whether there may be more the Commission could do. Staff hears comments and the community has suggestions to make housing more affordable, which is what the Board would like.

Chair Aguilar said the Board pursuing grant money is one thing but suggesting they place restrictions on homeowners is not a discussion he wants to have. It is not agendized and it would be crossing the line.

195 Commissioner Heck said she wanted to bring up but maybe the proper place for the discussion would be with the Board.

197198

Chair Aguilar said the proper place for the discussion is when it has been agendized.

199 200

201

Planner Barrington said the county does seek state and federal grant funding to provide transitional and affordable housing. He gave the examples of a USDA grant for the preservation of housing and rehabilitation as well as a grant to provide assistance in renting and purchasing homes.

202203

204 Commissioner Heck asked for the reasoning behind the owner occupancy restriction.

205

Planner Dobbs discussed accountability. When the owner is present, there is a higher likelihood a property will be maintained and in compliance. The 2002 rules reflect the notion that when homeowners are present, there is less likelihood of conflicts and incompatibilities.

209

Chair Aguilar asked about converting a structure that meets setbacks that were legal at the time but are not up to current standards.

212

Planner Dobbs said that properties would not be allowed to become more non-conforming.
Conversions are allowed under existing rules. There are paths to permitting ADUs.

215

216 Chair Aguilar opened public comment at 2:09 p.m.

217

Jan Fleming asked for clarification. She wondered if second dwellings and granny units are now ADUs.

220

Chair Aguilar started to answer and Ms. Fleming noted that there were big differences on the restrictions.

223

224 Chair Aguilar asked Ms. Fleming for her concern or comment.

225

Ms. Fleming asked if the new rules make ADUs the only secondary dwelling.

227

228 Chair Aguilar asked if she had further questions.

229

Ms. Fleming asked if the units were allowed kitchens.

231

232 Chair Aguilar said they are allowed kitchens. Everything is being changed to ADUs.

233

Planner Barrington suggested that Ms. Fleming might be referring to guest houses. Those cannot have kitchens and are different than ADUs. Guest house are still allowed, as are second dwelling units consistent with density. There are provisions for the three types of units.

237

Ms. Fleming asked the Commission to think about property owners. ADU size limitations make them affordable and she does not want a limit on rent that could be charged.

240

Alan Phillips discussed septic tank requirements. He gave examples and noted that requiring second septic tanks for ADUs is prohibitively expensive as well as inconsistent.

Francis Jorgensen asked about fire safety requirements and defensible space when ADUs are close to other properties.

Greg Zaller noted he had submitted multiple written comments regarding the owner occupation requirement. The way the regulations stand, ADUs are not effectively addressing the housing crisis. He wants to build many ADUs and make them very affordable. He discussed his process with the Building Department and the ways the regulations may be circumvented. The owner occupancy regulation is discriminatory and in violation of Senate Bill 2. He proposed eliminating the owner occupancy requirement.

Heather Featherston discussed the housing shortage in the county. The owner occupancy requirement means that investors with rental properties cannot add additional housing. Investors will have accountability as they want to maintain their investments, so the requirement does not make sense.

Pauli Halstead said she is in total agreement with others that the owner occupation restriction should be removed. She suggested that ADUs should not be used as Airbnbs or short term rentals, but rather as housing.

Ronda Trujillo appreciates the effort to make adding an ADU work, but thinks the proposed changes are not enough. More can be done, such as providing help with fees. As wonderful as it sounds, the changes can still get better which would make the proposal work better for the county.

Gary Mapa is a real estate broker in Placer County. He is very aware of the housing shortage problem in California. It is essential that investors get the opportunity to have ADUs. Investors have skin in the game as well. It doesn't matter who rents out an ADU, there is the same risk either way. Financing is critical in order to build an ADU and is often difficult for homeowners to get it on their own. The opportunity should be equal. He suggested ways to create financing, including bond money.

Barbara Bashall of the NCCA said she is pleased to see changes. She encouraged the Commission to stay away from income restrictions, as restrictions deter building these units. She also suggested the Commission consider removing some restrictions around the second septic tank requirement as well as the owner occupancy requirement. The Building Department should be encouraged to look at reducing the costs of ADUs.

Mardie Caldwell discussed tiny houses and asked that they be part of the discussion. She also asked that property owners be allowed to have more than one ADU on their property.

Chair Aguilar closed public comment at 2:28 p.m. and asked staff to address the issues.

Planner Dobbs first addressed the second septic tank requirement. The redundancy improves septic system functionality and longevity at the residential level and has not proved to be a barrier to applicants. He discussed defensible space, fire requirements and language in the Public Resources Code. The owner occupancy requirement was important at time it was implemented and it still has validity in its effort to reduce absentee landlords. Short term rentals are not regulated, though they are required to register with the Tax Collector. County departments and staff answer to the Board on fees. Departments have reduced fees where they can and staff is not pursuing or recommending further reduction in fees or service. Tiny homes need to meet the California Building Code but

many that are registered with the DMV do not meet energy calculation and snow load 293 requirements. The county permits projects that are consistent with the Building Code. 294

295 296

297

298

Director Foss said the state, not local code, generally sets septic requirements. The proposed ordinance does not change permitting requirements for tiny homes, which are dictated by the Building Code. The ordinance does not seek to incorporate or exclude tiny homes. He asked County Counsel to speak to the legality of the owner occupation requirement.

299 300 301

Counsel VanderPloeg read the government code that allows local jurisdictions to allow owner occupancy requirements. Local jurisdictions are allowed to retain the authority on the provision.

302 303

Director Foss said the scope of the project was to come into compliance with state law, not to 304 reevaluate and reconsider the accessory dwelling unit ordinance. Staff will take any additional 305 306 direction from the Board.

307

Chair Aguilar asked about bedrooms and septic requirements.

308 309

Director Foss said he doesn't know the exact codes. Because it is a dwelling it needs to comply 310 with dwelling unit standards. There is a differentiation from adding bedrooms to an existing house 311 but he does not know the specifics. 312

313

Chair Aguilar asked if there were more questions. 314

315

Commissioner Duncan asked if second dwelling units are separate from accessory dwelling units. 316

317

Director Foss agreed, the second dwelling unit consistent with density is still a term in the code. 318

319

Commissioner Duncan said county standards still had to be met. She asked if there is a requirement 320 that the primary residence be owner occupied when a second unit [consistent with density] is proposed.

322 323

321

Director Foss said he doesn't believe there is.

324 325 326

327

328

329

330

331

332

333

Commissioner Duncan cautioned to not make assumptions on who might occupy the ADU. People are willing to pay the rents and without income restrictions they can be rented to anyone. The owner occupancy requirement seems onerous and discriminatory. She wondered if the law was being applied fairly. This was an opportunity for the Commission to consider how to make it better. Staff can bring the Board's attention to the fact that the discussion came up and that the community is concerned. She liked the idea of coupling it with financing to make ADUs affordable, then tie those units to income restrictions. Helping people involves providing affordable housing. The state was right to take the lead in getting local jurisdictions to see the bigger picture of affordable housing.

334 335

Chair Aguilar asked Commissioner Duncan what she was saying. 336

337

Commissioner Duncan suggested staff bring this up. Is the issue being treated fairly and are ADUs 338 being unnecessarily penalized? She doesn't think that is what the state intended. This is an 339 opportunity to look closer. She was confident that staff would take the comments under advisement 340 and share them with the Board. 341

Commissioner James said he agreed with staff that there should be an owner occupancy restriction associated with ADUs. He has had experience in a number of cities and seen that the bulk of the problem properties that require enforcement are usually rentals with absent owners that are hard to contact and hold accountable. It is a good restriction. He agrees with the sentiments about fees. He has had experience with loans being available for building fees, which could then be recorded against a property in case there were problems. He is not in favor of income restrictions as they would be counterproductive in making more housing.

Commissioner Heck said she felt very strongly that the owner occupancy restriction was not the way to go. Area housing is very expensive, it is unfair to treat investors and individual homeowners differently, and it is not correct to assume there will be problems if an owner isn't on site. Most people take care of their properties and she feels very strongly about the restriction.

Counsel VanderPloeg clarified that the restriction is not being added; it has been there since 2002. The restriction is not being addressed in the changes today.

Commissioner Heck asked if it was not possible for the Commission to address it.

Counsel VanderPloeg said it is not part of the packet and it is not a change being presented. It is an existing condition.

Commissioner Heck said that it was definitely addressed in the packet as a condition for ADUs.

Therefore, it is in fact a part of what the Commission is being asked to approve.

Counsel VanderPloeg said it was part of it but not a change.

Planner Dobbs said it is existing language. He noted that staff hears the discussion and will capture it in the Board staff report. He was not sure if it was within the purview of the Commission, though it is part of the section that staff is asking the Commission to recommend to the Board.

Chair Aguilar said it is definitely within the purview.

375 Commissioner Heck agreed.

Chair Aguilar said the Commission will be making a recommendation. If the Commission doesn't agree with it, they either table it and give staff direction, or they make a modification.

Counsel VanderPloeg clarified that the owner occupation requirement was an existing condition.

Commissioner Heck said she understands it is existing and she thinks it is within their purview to recommend the change to the Board of Supervisors.

Chair Aguilar said the Commission can't set fees but they can do the change.

387 Commissioner Heck expressed agreement.

In response to a member of the public wanting to talk, Chair Aguilar noted that public comment was closed.

Chair Aguilar gave examples of gray areas and loopholes in the occupation requirement. He expressed dislike of a few restrictions, including potential income restrictions and the owner occupancy requirement. He discussed the benefits of ADUs as well as doubt that a loosening of restrictions will result in a flood of new ones. He then noted that the Commission was at a point to make a motion to recommend the actions as written, recommend with a modification, or ask staff to address other issues.

Commissioner Heck said she was prepared to make a motion.

Motion by Commissioner Heck to recommend the Board of Supervisors find the project is statutorily exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act pursuant to Public Resource Code 21080.17 and Sections 15061(b)(3), 15268, and 15282(h) of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines; second by Commissioner Duncan. Motion carried on a voice vote 4/0 (Commissioner Jensen absent).

Motion by Commissioner Heck to recommend the Board of Supervisors adopt the attached Ordinance (ORD17-1) amending Chapter II of the Nevada County Land Use and Development Code Allowable Land Uses Tables L-II 2.2.1.B, 2.2.2.B, 2.3.D, 2.4.D, and 2.6.F; and Sections L-II 3.19, 3.19.1, 3.19.2, 4.2.5, 4.2.9 and 6.1; with the additional recommendation that the Board of Supervisors consider dropping the current restriction that accessory dwelling units can only be occupied as long as there is an owner occupant on the property; Second by Commissioner Duncan. Motion carried on a voice vote 3/1 (Commissioner James voted no; Commissioner Jensen was absent).

Chair Aguilar noted that there was no ten-day appeal period.

Discussion ensued regarding upcoming Commission meetings.

Motion by Commissioner Duncan; second by Commissioner Heck to adjourn. Motion carried on voice vote 4/0 (Commissioner Jensen absent).

There being no further business to come before the Commission, the meeting was adjourned at 2:54 p.m. to the next meeting tentatively scheduled for August 10, 2017, in the Board of Supervisors Chambers, 950 Maidu Avenue, Nevada City.

Passed and accepted this 10th day of August, 2017.

- 430 <u>Brían Foss (tm)</u>
- Brian Foss, Ex-Officio Secretary